1965

# Donna Stapely v. Salt Lake City Lines : Appellant's Brief

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The accident occurred on a four-lane highway on the outside north-bound lane. The day was clear and the surface condition of the highway was generally wet. (Tr. 10) The speed limit is 40 miles per hour on State Street (Tr. 28). The investigating officer, because of the poor condition of the roadway, was unable to determine whether there had been a violation of speed restrictions. The rear vehicle left skid marks on the surface of the road, but the bus did not. (Tr. 32)

A windrow of snow and road grit was pushed over the normal edge of the highway to a depth of approximately

three inches. (Tr. 12, 178) The shoulder of the road, which was wet and muddy, was deeply rutted with tire tracks (Tr. 100, 178) and some puddles of water were present. The shoulder measured approximately 9 feet in width, and a utility pole bearing the coach-stop sign was located on the shoulder at 8.3 feet from the east edge of the hard surface. (Tr. 97) The entire street measured 56.1 feet; the northbound inside lane, 11.6 feet; the northbound outside lane, 11.4 feet. (Tr. 94)

After the collision, the bus came to rest with its front (not its body) one foot from the edge of the driveable portion of the roadway (Tr. 9); the automobile was found to be two feet seven inches from the east edge of the street. (Tr. 14; Ex. 1)

The driver of the bus testified that he was traveling about 30 miles per hour (Tr. 63) and began his stop to permit passengers to alight at 8300 South State approximately one block before that stop, making a more careful stop than usual. (Tr. 74) An eighty-four-year-old woman passenger on the bus fell forward when the automobile hit it. (Tr. 175)

The bus driver turned on the right-hand direction signal probably 200 yards before the bus stop (Tr. 53) and applied his brakes. The brake lights were tested immediately after the accident and found to be in working order. (Tr. 72, 77, 196-7) He made no arm signal. (Tr. 54) He was concerned with stopping the front of the bus in the driveway slightly north of the coach-stop sign to permit his passenger to alight in a dry area; he considered it unsafe to pull further to the right. (Tr. 67) He did not

notice the car traveling immediately to his rear and heard the sound of brakes being applied and glanced in rear-view mirror. (Tr. 50)

Passengers on the bus testified that the bus stopped slowly. (Tr. 171, 175).

Roland Park Stapley first saw the bus ahead of him when the bus entered State Street at 8600 South on the inside lane and then pulled into the far right lane next of him. (Tr. 113) He slowed for the bus and followed for a distance of 2 1/2 to 3 blocks at a fairly constant speed of 30 miles per hour at approximately 100 feet behind the bus. (Tr. 115) Suddenly, he noticed that the bus was moving in towards me and the distance closing rapidly. (Tr. 126) He admitted, as the skid marks showed, that he made no attempt to pull to the right or left, stating that there was traffic to the left and he could not move to the right without danger of hitting a tree. (Tr. 128-9)

Mr. Stapley knew the area and was aware of the bus stops. (Tr. 134) He didn't see any lights on the rear of the bus, although they could have been there. (Tr. 135)

The plaintiff, Mrs. Stapley, testified at deposition that she did see "lights on both sides" of the bus. She testified at the trial, however, that although she had mistaken them "brake lights" at her deposition, that what she really saw were the running lights at the top rear of the bus. (Tr. 164-166)

The driver testified that the running lights are used only at night and were not on at the time of the accident. (Tr. 192) The running lights at the rear sides of the bus



activated by the same switch which lights three more  
across the rear of the bus. (Tr. 192)

Exhibits 13, 14, and 15 are the result of an experi-  
ment which demonstrated that arm signals from a bus  
of the type here involved are not visible 100 feet im-  
mediately to the rear of the bus, because the left rear  
corner of the bus obscures the view to following traffic.  
(Tr. 183-188)

Mr. Stapley's injuries were severe and this is an un-  
fortunate case where sympathy challenges the integrity of  
the law. The appellant asks the Court to set aside the ver-  
dict and judgment upon the following points of law:

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE  
ON THE PART OF APPELLANT AND THE TRIAL  
COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VER-  
DICT IN ITS BEHALF.

### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO  
DIRECT A VERDICT FOR APPELLANT INAS-  
MUCH AS THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THE  
SOLE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT  
WAS THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE AUTOMOBILE  
DRIVER. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE NEGLI-  
GENCE OF THE AUTOMOBILE DRIVER WAS AN  
INTERVENING PROXIMATE CAUSE WHICH CUT  
OFF THE LEGAL EFFECT OF ANY NEGLIGENCE  
ON THE PART OF THE BUS DRIVER.

## POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 4, WHICH WAS INAPPLICABLE TO THE CASE UNDER THE LAW AND IS UNLAWFUL AND JUDICIAL IN ITS EFFECT.

## POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION 4 CONCERNING SUDDEN STOPS, WHEN ALL THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THE BUS WAS STOPPED VERY GRADUALLY.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF APPELLANT AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN ITS BEHALF.

Three charges of negligence against the bus and its driver were finally defined by plaintiff to be

"1. That the bus was brought to a stop without proper or visible signal; that either the defendant's driver did not signal or because of the condition of the car lights, the signal was not visible to the driver of the automobile in which plaintiff was riding.

"2. That the driver of said bus failed to exercise reasonable care to keep a proper lookout to the rear of said bus to observe automobiles following and particularly the automobile in which the plaintiff was riding.

That the driver of said bus stopped the same on a portion of the roadway without pulling off to the side."

Section 41-6-70 provided that signals from motor vehicles be given either by means of the arm and hand or by a signal lamp or device, but required the use of a lamp or device "when a vehicle is so constructed or equipped that a hand and arm signal would not be visible from the front and rear of such vehicle." The present statute further defines the type of vehicle which must be signalled by light or device as being those exceeding 14 feet in length from the center of the steering post or exceeding 6 inches in width left of the steering post. Buses of the Lake City Lines measure eight feet wide and thirty-two feet long. (Tr. 11) An experiment demonstrated that a hand signal would not be visible to the rear of the bus. (Tr. 183-188.) Therefore, the driver of the bus was required to give an arm signal, which would have been effective to warn vehicles to the rear.

Dantley called the bus driver as witness and it was established by his testimony that the brake or stop lights were actuated by pressure on the brake pedal, that the lights were in working condition at the time of the accident, that he applied the brakes approximately one block before the anticipated stop, and that the lights were not obscured by mud or other substance at the time of the accident. The evidence by which plaintiff sought to discredit or question this evidence is equivocal or improbable and, in fact, proved nothing contrary to the bus driver's statements.

Mr. Stapley admitted that the brake lights may have been on although he didn't see them. Mrs. Stapley at-

tempted to explain her deposition statement by stating that she had seen the brake lights by stating that the two lights she had seen on the rear of the bus were, in fact, running lights at the top of the bus. The physical construction of the bus render the attempted explanation improbable and even impossible. She was not by light on either side of the bus; had they been lights, her impression would almost certainly have comprehended five lights, all activated by the same

The bus driver testified that he had not turned on running lights because the accident occurred at a time of day when running lights were not necessary. He turned the right-hand direction light to signal his turn to the right-hand side of the road. The brake lights were checked by the investigating officer after the accident. Testimony and by the Superintendent for the Salt Lake County (Tr. 195) and found to be in working order. A film was on the brake lights, but no mud that would interfere with the visibility of the signal. (Tr. 78)

The mere act of stopping lighted the stop lights on the rear and there is no evidence that would tend to prove this allegation of negligence.

2: As to the second allegation of negligence the driver did not observe the Ford Fairlane behind him for several seconds before the impact, but the evidence discloses that he discharged his duty to traffic behind him and was bound to anticipate unusual conduct from that car.

The duty of keeping a lookout for vehicles to the rear is generally discussed in relation to some other duty such as the duty to signal. As stated in 60 C.J.S., Motor Vehicles, sec. 322, p. 743:

It has been held that the driver in the lead need not as a rule keep a vigilant watch for drivers trailing him, although it has also been held that he cannot entirely ignore vehicles in the rear, and that he may be required to keep a lookout for vehicles to the rear where there appears some particular fact that calls his attention to the following vehicle and imposes some duty on the motorist to maintain such lookout, or where he intends to execute some maneuver requiring a lookout for, and signal to, the following vehicle. . . ."

In *Richardson v. Hackett*, 204 Va. 847, 134 S.E.2d 411, the driver of a truck which was hit in the rear by an automobile traveling in the same direction sought recovery from the driver of the rear vehicle. Upon the defense of contributory negligence in failing to observe vehicles to the rear, the court stated, "We hold that the failure of the driver of the truck to continue to look to the rear was negligence as a matter of law and that such failure was a proximate cause of the accident as a matter of law." Similar to the present case, the court noted that the driver was signalled that he was slowing down and that the stoppage was gradual over a distance of 1500 feet.

In *Mack v. Decker*, 24 Wis.2d 219, 128 N.W. 2d 491, a motorcycle hit an automobile stopped at a crosswalk and a judgment for the motorcycle operator was reversed for error in giving an instruction on the duty to look for vehicles to the rear. The court stated:

"There was no evidence of any deviation by Taft but the testimony is undisputed that he brought his car to a stop in the south traffic lane. Under these facts *there was no requirement that*

*Taft exercise lookout to the rear where the application of his car brakes, the red car taillights." (emphasis added)*

The vague accusation of failure to keep the rear is meaningless where the forward car required signals and had no reason to anticipate an extraordinary situation. The rule is stated in Morrisensen, 11 Utah 2d 140, 356 P.2d 34 at 35, 177 P.2d 100 to observe is negligence proximately contributing to harm *only where by observing the injury could be avoided or lessened the resulting harm." (emphasis added)*

3: Plaintiff urged that the bus made an unlawful stop **was** successful in having the language of U.C.A. 41-6-101 read as a portion of Instruction No. 4 **was** the basis for appellant's claim of error under Point

That section provides:

"Upon any highway outside of a city or residence district no person shall stop, park or standing any vehicle, whether attended or unattended, upon the paved or main traveled part of the highway when it is practical to stop and so leave such vehicle off such part of highway but in every event an unobstructed width of highway opposite a standing vehicle shall be provided for the free passage of other vehicles and a view of the stopped vehicle shall be available for a distance of 200 feet in each direction upon a highway."

U.C.A. 1953, 41-6-10 defines "stop, stopping, standing" as used in the above section:

"(b) 'Stop, stopping, or standing' **where prohibited** means any stopping or standing of a vehicle

whether occupied or not, except when necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic or in compliance with the directions of a police officer or traffic control sign or signal."

"Traffic control signs" are defined by U.C.A. 1953, § 10-1-20:

"All signs, signals, markings and devices not inconsistent with this act placed or erected by authority of a public body or official having jurisdiction for the purpose of regulating, warning or guiding traffic."

Appellant contends that the statute cited by instruction to the jury is inapplicable (1) under interpretations in other jurisdictions of the same act, (2) because the mere stopping comes within an express exception of the statute, because it was not "practical to stop . . . such as at such part of said highway," and (4) because a part of the necessary conditions for the statute's application was not produced by the plaintiff.

The statute was adopted from the uniform motor vehicle act and in other states where the act is effective, stopping of a public conveyance to pick-up or discharge passengers, although on the paved portion of the highway, has been held to be a mere temporary stop for a transient purpose and not prohibited by the act. *McAvon v. Brightmoor Transit Co.*, 245 Mich. 44, 222 N.W. 126; *Wheary v. Carolina Coach Co.*, 225 N.C. 668, 36 S.E. 2d 40; *Peoples v. Fulk*, 220 N.C. 635, 18 S.E. 2d 147; *Leary v. Norfolk So. Bus Corp.*, 220 N.C. 745, 18 S.E.2d 426. Although not involving transit companies, numerous other cases hold that "Stop, park or leave standing" means some-

thing more than a temporary stop for a necessary purpose. See *Kastler v. Tures*, 191 Wis. 120, 210 N.W. 415, *Stalling v. Buchan Transp. Co.*, 210 N.C. 201, 185 S.E. 641, *Boyd v. Boss*, 111 Ore. 190, 224 P. 646.

(2) The designation of the points at which Salt Lake City Lines must stop to pick-up and discharge passengers is made by the local authority, in this instance, Midvale City. If the local authority and the transit company fail to agree or if there is a failure of the designations to the public, the Public Service Commission will enter an order requiring such a designation.

The designation of the coach stop at 8300 South State was not the subject of a municipal ordinance. It was adopted by agreement between Midvale City and the transit company, which is the more usual procedure in Utah, and does not make the posting of the sign a less an official act to make a stop thereat within the exception of the statute.

(3) The bus driver, as witness for the plaintiff, stated that he considered it unsafe to go upon the shoulder of the road to discharge his passengers. Similarly, driver stated did not turn his automobile to the right for fear of the danger in the area. There is no evidence to the contrary.

Additionally, by reason of the designation of the coach stop at 8300 South State, the bus driver was compelled to stop at that point. What little variance he was permitted to make on behalf of the convenience and safety of his passengers does not permit him to make a selection of a stopping place of his own choice. In describing the scope of 41-6-9, it is said in *General Ins. Co. of America v. Lewis*, 121 Utah 440, 243 P. 2d 433 at 434:



"This section deals only with cases where the driver stops his car on the highway from his own choice and has an opportunity to select the place and conditions of his stop. . ."

4. Plaintiff offered no proof that the area of the highway was not a business or residence district, a necessary condition to place it within the scope of the statute. In the exhibits and the addresses and testimony of witnesses indicate that the property contiguous to the highway was improved with residences and buildings in accordance with the definition of U.C.A. 1953, 41-6-8 (d) (e).

It is obvious that the requirement of the statute for leaving the room for traffic passage was fully met on a two-lane highway.

No evidence was produced demonstrating negligence on the part of appellant or its driver and the trial court erred in denying appellant's requested instruction "A" directing the jury to return a verdict in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff, no cause of action.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT FOR APPELLANT INASMUCH AS THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THE NEAREST PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT WAS THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE AUTOMOBILE DRIVER. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE AUTOMOBILE DRIVER WAS AN INTERVENING PROXIMATE CAUSE WHICH CUT OFF THE LEGAL EFFECT OF ANY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF THE BUS DRIVER.

U.C.A. 1953, 41-6-62 provides the standard for a driver. Mr. Stapley, as driver of the following vehicle, is held:

"The driver of a motor vehicle shall not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent, having due regard for the speed of such vehicles and the traffic upon and the condition of the highway. Mr. Stapley's testimony reveals that he was familiar with the area and with the bus stops within that area. Although his testimony is in conflict with that of the bus driver, he asserts that the traffic in the left lane was too heavy to permit him to change lanes. He was aware of the bus in the lane ahead of him and followed it for a distance of 2½ to 3 blocks. Similarly, he testified that the street conditions were virtually the same at the site of accident as that which he had experienced all along State Street (7-132). The bus driver, as a witness for plaintiff, testified that he started his stop one block prior to the point of impact. Disinterested witnesses also testified that the stop was gradual. Even Mr. Stapley offered no positive evidence to the contrary—he merely stated that he suddenly became aware that the distance between the two vehicles was diminishing rapidly, but too late to prevent the accident.

By his own evidence, Mr. Stapley was following the bus more closely than was reasonable and prudent with the knowledge and circumstances. He was aware of all the conditions of peril—a partially damp street, traffic conditions, the bus in front of him, the habit and necessity of the bus making stops along State Street. But having

and these observations, he negligently drove his automobile into the rear of the bus.

Even were there an indication of negligence on the part of the bus driver, the unforeseeable negligence of Mr. Aston would be an intervening proximate cause, cutting off the legal effect of any negligence on the part of appellant driver. The law in the area is comprehensively illustrated in the case of *Hillyard v. Utah By-Products Company*, 1 Utah 2d 143, 263 P.2d 287. That case was actually similar to this one with the exception that the vision of the driver of the rear vehicle may have been obstructed by the cars he was following and passing so that he may have failed to see the parked truck which he struck. The Court held this possibility to create a jury question, citing, 263 P.2d 293:

"It thus seems proper to conclude that if the evidence was such as to make mandatory a finding that the driver Aston must have seen the truck as he approached, but nevertheless ran into it, that would have been something so unusual and extraordinary as not to be reasonably foreseeable. In such instance, his negligence would have been an independent intervening cause, insulating defendant's negligence as a proximate cause and plaintiff's judgment could not be allowed to stand."

This case represents the hypothetical thus posed in *Hillyard* if the appellant can be found negligent in any regard. A dangerous situation is created by the first actor and a later actor observed or circumstances are such that he could not fail to observe, but negligently failed to avoid it. It is held as a matter of law that the later intervening actor does interrupt the natural sequence of events and cut

off the legal effect of the negligence of the initial actor. This is based upon the reasoning that it is not reasonably foreseeable nor expected that one who actually becomes cognizant of a dangerous condition in ample time to avoid it will fail to do so." 263 P.2d at 292.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 4, WHICH WAS INAPPLICABLE TO THE CASE UNDER THE LAW AND PREJUDICIAL IN ITS EFFECT.

Instruction Number 4 given by the trial court permitted the jury, under paragraph 2, to consider the driver's lack of knowledge that the Stapley vehicle was immediately to his rear as an act of negligence despite the fact that there could be no causal connection between the failure to see the automobile and the accident. Reference is made to the discussion under Point I hereof. Appellant urges that the submission of the instruction was reversible error.

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