1965

Donna Stapely v. Salt Lake City Lines : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF DEFENDANT'S DRIVER TO SUSTAIN THE JURY VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT FOR THE DEFENDANT.

The trial court submitted the following issues of defendant's negligence as alleged by the plaintiff to the jury for their determination:

1. That the bus was brought to a stop without a proper or visible signal; that either the defendant's driver did not signal or because of the condition of the signal lights the signal was not visible to the driver of the automobile in which plaintiff was riding.

2. That the driver of said bus failed to exercise reasonable care to keep a proper lookout to the rear of said bus to observe automobiles following and particularly the automobile in which the plaintiff was riding.

3. That the driver of said bus stopped the same on a traveled portion of the roadway without pulling off to the side. (R. 59 - 60).

Regarding the first allegation, Section 41-6-69 of U.C.A., 1953 provides as follows:

"No person shall stop or suddenly decrease the speed of a vehicle without first giving an ap-

appropriate signal in the manner provided herein to the driver of any vehicle immediately to the rear when there is opportunity to give such signal."

Section 41-6-70(b), U.C.A., 1953 requires that vehicles of the length of defendant's bus give the appropriate signal by means of signal lamps of the type approved by the State Road Commission. Plaintiff does not contend that the brake lights on defendant's bus were not of the type approved by the State Road Commission, but does contend that either (1) defendant's driver did not make an "appropriate signal" of his intention to stop, or (2) he did not keep the signal lights clean enough to afford reasonably adequate illumination to the rear. Defendant's driver admits that he gave no arm and hand signal of his intention to stop (R. 163). The evidence is inconclusive as to whether or not such a signal could have been seen by the driver of the automobile in which plaintiff was riding if it had been given (R. 298).

The giving of an "appropriate signal" of one's intention to stop, whether by arm and hand signal or by means of brake lights which are actuated by depressing the brake pedal as were the brake lights on defendant's bus, must be made in advance of the time the stop is commenced in order to afford any warning of the contemplated stop. Our Utah statute was thus construed by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in *United States vs. First Security Bank*

Utah, 208 F.2d 424, (10th Cir. 1953) wherein stated at page 429:

“... It is urged that the visible light showing the application of Vernon’s brakes complied with the statute. A fair inference to be drawn from the testimony of Mardis and his wife is that the brake light signal which was given by the Vernon automobile was simultaneous with its sudden decrease in speed. Under such circumstances, the signal was not effective and was not in compliance with the statute which provides that an appropriate signal must be given *prior* to stopping or suddenly decreasing the speed of a vehicle.” (Emphasis added).

Also, in *Johnson vs. Hill*, 274 F.2d 110 (8th Cir. 1960) a nearly identical statute of North Dakota was considered by the court in the following language:

“We first take up the question of Johnson’s negligence. In North Dakota the driver of a motor vehicle is under a statutory duty not to stop or suddenly decrease the speed of his vehicle ‘without first giving an *appropriate* signal in the manner provided herein to the driver of any vehicle immediately to the rear when there is opportunity to give such a signal.’ Section 39-1038 of the North Dakota Supplement. Section 39-1039 of the North Dakota statute provides that a stop signal shall be given either by means of the hand and arm or by a signal lamp or mechanical device. In construing nearly identical statutes of Utah and Minnesota, under facts analogous to the instant situation, it was held that a jury ques-

tion was presented as to whether the driver of the lead vehicle had warned the driver of the vehicle following closely behind by appropriate signal, of his intention to stop or suddenly decrease his speed. (Auth. Cited)

It is to be noted that giving a signal is not sufficient statutory compliance. It must be an appropriate signal”

The reasoning behind such statutes is stated in *Benson vs. Hoenig*, 37 N.W.2d 422 (Minn. 1949) at page 425:

“ . . . As pointed out in the *Christensen* case the theory underlying such a statute is that the knowledge of a driver of a car to the rear of the presence on the highway of a car forward is not in itself adequate to enable him to guard against a rear-end collision if the forward car should stop suddenly without warning, and that a warning would enable the car in the rear to guard against the stop by bringing his car to a stop with the forward one.”

In a somewhat later Minnesota case, *Ryan vs. Griffin*, 62 N.W. 2d 504 (1954) the plaintiff driver sued as defendants the drivers of the two preceding automobiles for personal injuries he sustained as a result of a three car rear-end collision. The court dismissed the case against the first driver and directed a verdict in favor of the second driver on the ground that the plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a matter of law for having run into the second car immediately in front of her. The Minnesota Supreme Court reversed and remanded.

the case for a new trial. Regarding the reciprocal duties of the leading and following drivers, the court stated as page 507:

... There are reciprocal duties on the part of a driver of a leading automobile and the driver of a car following. Each must exercise due care, must keep his vehicle under reasonable control, must drive at a speed which is reasonable and proper under the circumstances, must give due regard to the right of the other, and in general must so operate his automobile as to avoid unnecessary collision with the other. The driver of a leading automobile has no absolute legal rights superior to the driver of the car following. The leading driver must exercise due care not to swerve, slow up, or stop without adequate warning of his intention to do so to the driver of the car following. The driver of the car following must exercise due care to avoid collision with the leading automobile. Just how close an automobile may be followed and what precautions a driver must take in the exercise of due care to avoid colliding with the automobile ahead and just what warning the driver of the leading automobile must give in the exercise of due care before swerving, slowing up, or stopping cannot be stated in a fixed rule. In each case, except where reasonable minds may not differ, what due care requires and whether it has been exercised is for the jury. (Emphasis added).

In each of the foregoing cases the facts differed slightly as to the speed, distance between automobiles, and various other factors, i.e., in the *First*

Security Bank of Utah case the automobiles were traveling at a high rate of speed, in the *Benson* case they were going slowly in a funeral procession, and in the *Ryan* case they were going at a moderate rate of speed, approximately 20 miles per hour; however, in each case the reviewing Court found that the questions of negligence, contributory negligence, and proximate cause were, or should have been, properly submitted to the jury.

In the instant case, defendant's driver admitted that he gave no arm signal and indicates that he did not actuate the brakes, and thereby the brake lights at any time before he actually started to stop (p. 163). The only type of a signal which he claims to have made was a right-turn signal. Such a signal was held by this court in *Flippen vs. Milward*, 12 Utah 373, 234 P.2d 1053, (1951) as not complying with the statutory requirements of giving a proper signal of intention to stop. In that case the plaintiff was struck from the rear when she slowed down to make a turn. She stated she signaled for the turn, but not for the slowing or stopping. On this point the court through Justice Wade stated:

“By her own testimony she did not give an appropriate signal for such an event, even if a hand signal could be seen in such a dense fog, for she testified she signaled she was going to turn and did not testify that she signaled she was going to slow down or stop.”

Also, in *Sturdavant vs. Covington*, 3 Utah 2d 14 277 P.2d 814, (1954) the duty of the forward driver

to anticipate the possible necessity of stopping as discussed. In that case the plaintiff was the forward driver who stopped suddenly to avoid striking the dog. He contended that he was relieved from the duty of making an appropriate signal of his intention to stop because the dog suddenly ran in front of him, and also that because he was going very slowly, the following driver, the defendant, should have known that it was likely that the plaintiff might stop. Considering these points, the court stated:

“. . . By his own testimony, he realized from the time he started up at the intersection that he might have to stop to avoid striking the dog and yet he did not give or prepare to give any signal of a contemplated stop. For a distance of 130 feet he drove with the dog running ahead of him . . . While we recognize some force in appellant's argument that because he was traveling very slowly after he started up from the intersection the respondent should have known that it was likely that appellant might stop, we do not think that fact can absolve appellant from contributory negligence as a matter of law.”

In the case at bar, defendant's driver knew from the time the children passengers pulled the trolley cord as the bus passed the preceding Coach stop that he would have to stop at the next Coach stop where the accident occurred (R. 187), yet he gave no *appropriate* signal of his intention to stop, when that intention was evidently to decelerate from

a speed of 30 miles per hour and stop on the rear portion of a wet highway without making any observations to the rear for vehicles that may be following him. The driver of the automobile in which plaintiff was riding had no forewarning or reason to anticipate that the bus would stop at this location when it had not stopped at any prior points since entering onto State Street (R. 225 - 226).

The record is quite clear that defendant's driver did not make an appropriate signal of his intention to stop before the stop commenced. Also, there is sufficient evidence on which the jury could find that the brake lights were so covered with grease and mud that it would have been impossible to see any type of signal emitted by them at a substantial distance to the rear (R. 200 - 201 & 246). In a case almost identical with the instant case, *Garrison v. Dixie Traction Company*, 232 S.W.2d 997, (Ky. 1950) the allegation of dirt on the brake lights was held sufficient to make a jury question as to the defendant's negligence. The Trial Court had directed a verdict for the defendant at the conclusion of all of the evidence and in reversing this judgment the Kentucky Supreme Court ruled as follows:

"Two well defined issues are thus raised by the evidence, and these are whether the bus was abruptly halted as it approached the intended stop, and that if the driver gave the stop signal, was it so obscured by dirt that it could not be seen. While the weight of evidence was that there was no sudden stoppage

of the bus as it approached the 'Power House' stop and that the bus was clean so as its stop lights could be seen, the majority of the Court is of the opinion that the testimony of the appellant C. William Garrison, that the bus did on that occasion make a sudden and abrupt stop, and the testimony of his witness, Mrs. Wilson, and himself that the stop signals were so obscured by mud that they could not be seen, was sufficient to take the case to the jury. The issues of fact, whether the bus did or did not stop suddenly and whether the stop signal required by K.R.S. 189.050 was so obscured by mud as to render it ineffective in this particular case, *were for the jury.*" (Emphasis added)

Concerning plaintiff's second allegation that defendant's driver failed to exercise reasonable care to keep a lookout to the rear, plaintiff does not contend that defendant's driver should have maintained a constant lookout to the rear, but does contend that the exercise of reasonable care would require the driver of a large bus to make an observation to the rear before stopping the same on the traveled portion of a principal highway, especially when he knew for a considerable period in advance that he would be making a stop at this location. The children alerted the bus driver as the bus passed the prior Touch Stop that they wanted to exit at the next stop (R. 187). There is no doubt but that the automobile in which plaintiff was riding as a passenger was following the bus at this time and could have been seen by the bus driver if he would have looked

since he was able to see the automobile as soon as he glanced in his side rear-view mirror upon applying the brakes of the automobile immediately before impact. (R. 162 - 163 & 175 - 176).

This court held in *Hayden vs. Cedarburg*, Utah 2d 171, 263 P.2d 796, that it is a jury question whether or not a forward driver is guilty of negligence in failing to observe traffic approaching from the rear. In that case the plaintiff was a passenger in a truck which was struck from the rear by defendant, a police officer, traveling 45 to 50 miles per hour. Any negligence of the truck driver was admittedly imputable to the plaintiff to bar his recovery. The trial court denied a motion for directed verdict and the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff on instructions which included one to the effect that if they believed that the exercise of due care required the truck driver to look to the rear or use the rear-vision mirror to ascertain if there were vehicles behind him, and such failure was a proximate cause of the collision, he would be guilty of contributory negligence and plaintiff could not recover. However, the trial court granted a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the ground that the truck driver violated a statute prohibiting a vehicle from turning right or left upon the roadway unless such movement could be made with reasonable safety. This court reversed and re-

giving the duty to make reasonable observations
of the rear stated through Justice Hneroid:

"Aside from statute, whether one is negligent in failing to observe traffic approaching from the rear, after giving a proper signal in the proper lane of traffic, would be a jury question based on the particular facts of each case, unless reasonable minds could not differ as to the fact of negligence or non-negligence, — whence a matter of law would arise."

Could not the jury have found in the case at bar that if the bus driver had looked in his rear-view mirror as he approached the Coach Stop where the accident occurred, he would have seen the automobile in which plaintiff was riding as a passenger approaching in the same lane of traffic at a constant speed, indicating that the driver thereof was unaware of the bus driver's intention to stop? The bus driver could have then taken action to avoid the collision such as pulling off onto the shoulder of the highway (which he should have done anyway) or in not stopping at all until the danger of collision had passed.

The duty to keep a reasonable lookout to the rear is increased when the driver contemplates slowing or stopping. In 60 *Corpus Juris Secundum*, Motor Vehicles, Section 301 this duty is stated as follows:

"Generally, a motorist intending to stop his vehicle must use due care for his own safety and for the safety of others, any sudden slow-

ing up may amount to a practical stop . . . to require the same precautions as would be necessary in case of an actual stop. Although the duty to use due care in stopping exists independently of any statutory regulation, it is sometimes prescribed by regulation that a motorist may not, except in cases of emergency, suddenly decrease his speed or stop unless he first sees that such operation may be made without endangering other traffic. As a rule, the operator should *look* for vehicles so close behind that they may be imperiled by a sudden stop or decrease of speed, and give a proper signal of his intention as discussed in subdivision b of this section . . ." (Emphasis added).

In *Scott vs. MacElroy*, 361 S.W. 2d 432, (1962) the Texas Court of Civil Appeals upheld a finding that the plaintiff driver of the first automobile in a series of three was guilty of contributory negligence when he slowed down to five miles per hour in contemplation of pulling off the highway. The plaintiff slowed without observing the defendant's automobile, which was the third automobile in line as he passed the second automobile and collided with the rear of plaintiff's automobile.

In the case of *Richardson vs. Hackett*, 134 S.W. 2d 312, (Va. 1964) cited by appellant, the facts regarding the caution exercised by the plaintiff truck driver who was struck from the rear are as follows:

"He *looked* in his rear-view mirror to see if there were any vehicles following him and

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